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CHAPEL HIGH SHOPPING CENTRE, BRENTWOOD, ESSEX
ARCHAEOLOGICAL WATCHING BRIEF REPORT
1
Non-Technical Summary
Between March and May 2005 an archaeological watching brief, on behalf of Halladale (Brentwood) Ltd, was undertaken to observe intrusive ground works connected with the laying of service trenches, landscaping and ground beam trenches associated with the new extension. No archaeological deposits were recorded during the watching brief which only revealed sequences of made ground and modern disturbance.
2
Introduction

Site Location
2.1
The subject site, known as Chapel High Shopping Centre, Brentwood, Essex, is located in the centre of the town of Brentwood on the south side of the High Street. It is centred on National Grid Reference (NGR) TQ 5950 9367 and covers an area of approximately 1.04 hectares.
2.2
The site is irregular in plan, and is bounded by houses or developed properties on all sides. To the north-west is the High Street, and to the south-east, Library House and the Court House Clinic. To the north-east are the buildings and tenement plots running back from the High Street, with Alfred Road at the south-east corner. To the south-west, the site is bounded by South Street. The majority of the site has been subject to modern development, although it incorporates a number of much older structures.

Planning Background
2.3
An Archaeological Desk Based assessment was carried out by AOC Archaeology Group (AOC, 1999) in order to assess the impact of any development upon the archaeology present on the site of Brentwood Shopping Centre. 

2.4
The current scheme relates to the extension and refurbishment of the shopping centre which was originally constructed in the 1970’s. An archaeological condition has been attached to the site by the conservation branch of Essex County Council in line with Planning Policy Guidance Note 16: Archaeology and Planning (DoE, 1990). The attached condition requires detailed monitoring and recording of any groundworks or enabling works associated with the development proposal, (Essex County Council, 2003)
2.5
The Chapel Conservation Area extends into the north side of the site, encompassing the ruined chapel of St. Thomas and no. 44 High Street. The site is bounded by the Hart Street Conservation Area on its south-west side, and by the Wilson’s Corner Conservation Area to the east. The chapel of St. Thomas is a Scheduled Ancient Monument and is listed Grade II, whilst the building at its north-west corner, no. 44 High Street, is also listed Grade II.
2.6
A Written Scheme of Investigation was prepared to satisfy the requirement in the condition for a detailed Method Statement (AOC 2004).
3
Archaeological and Historical Background
AOC Archaeology has previously undertaken an archaeological desk-based assessment (AOC, 1999) for the site and the results are summarized below.
Geology and Topography

3.1
Brentwood is located on a ridge of high ground known as the Mid Essex Ridge. The solid geology in this area dates to the Eocene Period, consisting of London Clay, overlain in turn by the sand and loam of the Claygate Beds and the Bagshot Beds. The majority of the historic core of the town is situated on a small isolated outcrop of boulder clay; the sub-soil is orange silty clay (AOC 1997, 10; Essex County Council Heritage Conservation Group (ECCHCG) 1999, 5).

3.2
The ground surface within the subject site slopes gently downwards from north to south, away from the High Street. The highest part of the site, adjacent to the High Street, is set at 107m AOD, whilst the lowest area, to the south of Becket House, is at 105m AOD.


Archaeological Background


Prehistoric (before c. AD 43)
3.3
Evidence for early habitation in the Brentwood area is scarce. Evidence for activity during the Palaeolithic (c.450,000 - 8,000 BC), Mesolithic (c.8,000 to 4,000 BC), the Mesolithic (c.4,000 to 2,000 BC) and the Bronze Age (c.2,000 to 700 BC) is almost exclusively in the form of stray artefacts of worked flint and stones; as of yet, there are no known settlements to be associated with the finds. This paucity of material is partly explained by the poor soils of the Brentwood area, which were not suitable for the agricultural practices of the Neolithic period and the Bronze Age.

3.4
The only evidence for early prehistoric activity in the immediate vicinity of the subject site was the discovery of a rolled and stained hand axe, some 120m to the south. This was recorded as being found between Brentwood and Tylers Common; however, another less worn example is held by Bedford Museum and is also marked Brentwood.

3.5
In the Iron Age (c. 700BC to 43AD, there is more substantial evidence for settlement activity in the area, although it is not until the Late Iron Age (c.100 BC - 43AD), however, that the Brentwood area becomes occupied to a noticeable degree. During the Iron Age, the Brentwood area was located in the south-western tip of the territory held by a tribal group known as the Trinovantes. At the time of Julius Caesar’s expeditions to Britain in 54BC, they allied with their powerful western neighbours, the Catuvellauni. The Catuvellauni, under their leader Cunobelin, later conquered the Trinovantes and established a new tribal capital within their former territory at Camulodunum (Colchester). 
3.6
The closest Late Iron Age activity to the subject site is located c.1.5km to the north-east, at South Weald camp. It originally comprised a roughly circular bank and ditch, enclosing c.2.8 hectares. Such defended sites are not common in Essex and South Weald must have formed a local focus of activity, although it is not known if a settlement was associated with the defended area.

Roman (c. AD 43 - 450)

3.7
Essex was one of the earliest parts of the Britain to be formally organised according to Roman governmental practice after the Claudian invasion of 43AD. As stated above, by the early first century AD, the Trinovantes had been largely suppressed by their most powerful neighbouring tribal group, the Catuvellauni. However, soon after the conquest, the Trinovantes re-emerged as a separate tribal entity. The reasons for this are not clear, but the Romans may have sought an alliance with them to crush the Catuvellauni, who were considered to be a much greater threat to the invading armies. However, in 49AD the Romans established the first colonia in Britain at Colchester in the former territory of the Trinovantes. This action, and the perceived encroachment upon their other former territories, may have spurred the Trinovantes to join the Boudiccan revolt in 60/61AD.

3.8
The closest Roman settlement to Brentwood of any appreciable size was Caesaromagus, on the site of modern day Chelmsford. There is much debate as to whether the settlement formed a civitas capital for the Trinovantes; indeed its status as a town is uncertain, as it appears never to have been a great success and has been described as an ‘urban failure’.

3.9
The historic core of Brentwood is situated on the projected line of the London to Colchester road, an important Roman communication route. The line of the current High Street follows the projected route of the road and it therefore may have run very close to the north edge of the subject site. Trial trenching at the junction of Spital Lane and Brook Street, c.2.2km to the south-west of the subject site produced evidence of two possible Roman road-side ditches. As yet, there is little evidence for a Roman roadside settlement at Brentwood, although scatters of roof tile found along the route of the road may indicate the possible position of individual buildings or houses; evidence of a small-scale rural settlement has been found at Thorndon Park, south-west of the town. A number of scattered finds have been made along the general route of the road, including two Roman coins, c.100m to the north of the subject site. One of the coins dated to the reign of Vespasian (69AD to 79AD).

Saxon (c. AD 450 - 1066)
3.10
To date, there is no evidence for Saxon/early medieval activity at Brentwood. 

Medieval (c. 1066 - 1485)
3.11
The documented history of Brentwood begins in the late twelfth century, when the name, probably meaning ‘burnt wood’, first appears in 1176. Brentwood was founded as a planned ‘new town’, deliberately built on probably wooded ground on the edge of South Weald parish. The settlement was founded by the Augustian Priory of St. Oysth, near Colchester, the lord of the manor of Costead. In 1177 and 1184, the monks were given license to assart 40 acres of woodland within the manor of Costead and built a small town on the cleared area. The new town was probably located deliberately on the London to Colchester road in order to profit from passing traffic and travellers. In this sense, Brentwood is similar to Epping, both being deliberately founded ‘new towns’ on major commercial routes. However, Brentwood is substantially earlier, as Epping’s foundation dates from the 1250s.

3.12
It is probable that the ‘new town’ at Brentwood was established on the south side of the present High Street. During its early history, the built-up area of the medieval town probably extended as far west as Hart Street, where a market place was located, and as far east as the modern Ingrave Road.

3.13
During its early history, one of the focuses of activity in Brentwood would have been the Chapel of St. Thomas Becket, situated at the north end of the subject site. The chapel was built in c.1221 by the priory of St. Oysth as a subsidiary chapel of South Weald church. It was to function as a chapel of ease, and was supposed to be financed solely from gifts made by pilgrims on their way to the shrine of Thomas Becket at Canterbury. As the building was a chapel of ease, the chaplain was not supposed to perform any divine offices, apart from on the anniversary of Becket’s passion or translation, or when a fair was held at Brentwood. The relationship of the chapel to both St. Oysth priory and its mother church at South Weald was not always harmonious; in 1373, the abbot of St. Oysth was charged with alienating the chaplain’s house to a layman. In 1440, the abbot was ordered by the pope to allow the sacraments to be administered by the chaplain in emergencies, after local inhabitants complained of the difficulties of getting to South Weald church in bad weather.

3.14
The original chapel probably consisted of a chancel and nave, possibly with a porch on the north side of the nave opening onto the High Street; to the east of the north doorway, there is a stoup (vessel for holy water) of late 13th or early 14th century date. The nave was rebuilt in the late 14th century and a tower added to the north-east corner by c.1400. A chaplain’s house was also present close to the chapel; according to one source, the house was provided with ‘a garden, orchard and little fielde’. Later map evidence (see below) suggests that the chaplain’s house was located to the immediate south-east of the chapel.

3.15
The chapel briefly became the subject of national attention in 1232, Hubert de Burgh, the Earl of Kent and one of Henry III’s uncles, took sanctuary there to avoid arrest by the king’s soldiers. The soldiers surrounded the chapel, ‘a deep trench was dug around the Chapel and for greater security they caused a high fence to be erected’. De Burgh was eventually starved into submission after 39 days.

3.16
The town appears to have been a commercial success, as it continued to expand throughout the medieval period. In 1227, the town was granted the right to hold a market and after 1234, building took place along the north side of the High Street. A number of standing buildings survive from the late medieval period. The best preserved is probably the White Hart Inn, c.120m to the west of the subject site, which is considered to be one of the finest medieval ‘inns’ in England. Based on the quality of the building work, it has been suggested that it may have been founded by St. Oysth priory as a pilgrim hostel. The surviving building dates from the early fifteenth and mid-sixteenth centuries, and is listed Grade II*. To the west of the subject site, nos. 60 and 62 High Street are of fifteenth century date, as are nos. 63 and 65 High Street, almost directly opposite the chapel of St. Thomas. It has also been suggested that no. 44 High Street, to the immediate north-west of the chapel and within the subject site, may have medieval origins.

3.17
In contrast to the evidence of standing buildings, excavation has so far revealed little information of the medieval town. An evaluation in the yard of the White Hart Inn, consisting of three small trenches, each 1.2m square and 1.2m deep, with a maximum depth of 1.2m, encountered natural deposits at an average depth of c.105m AOD. Above natural, limited evidence for thirteenth century activity was uncovered, although it was not firmly established that the White Hart area was included in the planned medieval town; the majority of the archaeology consisted of nineteenth century yard surfaces. Similarly, watching briefs at no. 21 High Street, c.200m north-east of the subject site, at 125-127 High Street, a similar distance to the south-west, and at Cramphorns, Hart Street, also to the south-west, produced little or no evidence for medieval settlement. One of the watching briefs encountered natural deposits at c.105m AOD, above which was a possible furrow from medieval strip fields. Moving away from the immediate High Street area, a watching brief at the rear of The Hermit public house, Shenfield Road revealed post-medieval disturbance to have destroyed any earlier remains, whilst at land adjacent to North Service Road uncovered a single pit of fifteenth or sixteenth century date. Although the archaeological work undertaken within the town has produced little or no evidence of the medieval settlement, this may be due to the limited nature of the investigations and their location away from the High Street frontage.

3.18
Only one piece of archaeological work has been carried out within the boundary of the subject site. In 1997, a watching brief was carried out on the excavation of a tree pit and Christmas tree anchor point, on the north side of the chapel, within its presumed churchyard. No evidence for medieval activity was recorded, although a number of post-medieval burials were encountered. In one of the pits, natural deposits were encountered at 1m below the existing pavement surface, at c.106.1m AOD.

Post Medieval and Twentieth Century (c. 1485 - modern)
3.19
Brentwood appears to have continued to expand into the early post medieval period, as in 1616 it was described as a ‘greate market town, consisting of many households situate together’. Leather may have played an important part in the town’s early post medieval economy, as did malting and brewing. By the late seventeenth century Brentwood, due to its position on the London to Colchester road, had become an important coaching centre, with eleven inns grouped around the chapel and market in the late eighteenth century. The coming of the railway to the town in the mid nineteenth century encouraged further growth, especially to the south of the High Street. From the 1950s onwards, Brentwood became a commuter town for London.

3.20
The earliest evidence for post-medieval activity within the subject site comes in the form of burials discovered during a watching brief on the north side of the chapel of St. Thomas in 1997. Improvement work was taking place in the area to the north of the chapel but within the presumed boundary of its churchyard/precinct wall. At the time of the watching brief, the majority of the improvement scheme area had already been covered with hardcore and so no further investigation could be undertaken. However, two test pits, both 1.10m square and between 0.70m and 1.30m deep, set 10m apart, were observed. They contained a total of six adult inhumations; associated coffin furniture suggested a late seventeenth or early eighteenth century date. As a chapel of ease, Brentwood chapel was not supposed to receive any christenings or burials which would divert income away from its mother church at South Weald. However, it may be that South Weald church became overcrowded in the early post medieval period and that the restrictions on burial at Brentwood were relaxed. A wooden door surviving in the north doorway of the chapel is of sixteenth/seventeenth century date.

3.21
The earliest map evidence for the subject site dates from c.1717. Brentwood High Street is shown, together with Back Street and the Market place; essentially, the main elements of the medieval street plan remained little changed, although the town had expanded further to the west. The chapel is shown with a tower, spire, chancel and knave, surrounded by a rectangular enclosure (presumably the churchyard). A detached house to the south-east is named as the ‘Chaplin’s House’ and houses are shown on the street frontage to either side of the chapel.

3.22
As stated above, Brentwood became an important coaching centre from the late seventeenth century onwards, and an estate map from the late eighteenth century provides evidence for the presence of inns within the subject site. The c.1788-1789 map and accompanying survey shows the plot to the west of the chapel (now no. 48 High Street) to be occupied by two dwelling houses, one of which was the Crown Inn. The buildings formed a quadrangle in plan, arranged around an open courtyard. According to one late eighteenth century source, documents existed which traced the existence of the Crown as an inn back to at least the late fifteenth century. A number of old weather boarded buildings of probable half-timbered construction, thought to form a remnant of the Crown Inn, were illustrated by a local artist in 1892. The land to the south of the Crown is shown as partly occupied by a garden in c.1788-1789, with the plot (plot no. 271) to the west (now formed by a service yard and no. 19 Chapel High) similarly depicted.

3.23
To the east of the chapel in c.1788-89 was the Chequers Inn, another establishment of some age. The building dated from the later sixteenth century and had an original plaster ceiling in the east wing formed of hexagonal panels enclosing figures of men and animals. The building is shown as a large L-shaped building fronting the High Street, with several ranges of outbuildings in the yard to the south and a garden to the south of them. The area of the outbuildings is now partly occupied by nos. 1 to 13 Chapel High and the car parking/service area to their east.

3.24
The chapel itself is shown with a small churchyard or garden to the south in c.1788-1789. There are a few buildings to the south, one of which may have been the Chaplain’s House shown in c.1717 but the remainder of the plot is largely empty. The building immediately to the north-west of the chapel (the existing no. 44 High Street) is listed as ‘dwelling house, sheds and gardens called the Chapel House’. This suggests that the Chaplain’s House shown in c.1717 may have become disused by this date. The existing building is generally ascribed a very early eighteenth century date, although the revised listing description raises the possibility that it may be medieval in origin, but much altered in the eighteenth century. In c.1788-1789, another building, formed by two dwelling houses, stood to the immediate east of no. 44.

3.25
An 1847 plan of Brentwood shows a number of alterations to have taken place to the buildings on the subject site. The majority of the Crown Inn had been demolished by this date, as had the building shown immediately to the west of no. 44 High Street; the latter had been replaced by a narrow lane, named as New Road on later maps. The site of the Crown Inn was occupied by dwelling houses. The layout of the buildings forming the Chequers Inn was little changed from c.1788-1789. A substantial building, possible a house known as the Priory, had been built to the south of the chapel. By this date (after 1835), the chapel had been converted to a boy’s school and continued in this use until 1869, when it was largely dismantled. Several mid nineteenth century illustrations of both the interior and exterior of the chapel exist, showing its appearance prior to demolition and include notes on the wall paintings which were still visible during this period.

3.26
The 1872 Ordnance Survey 25” map marks the chapel as a ruin, but the overall layout of the buildings within the subject site is little changed from 1847. The most substantial change is the appearance of several terraced houses between New Road and Chapman’s Alley (now South Street) to the west. The site is similarly shown in both 1896 and 1920; by the latter date, an infant school and technical school had been built at the south end of the subject site (the existing nos. 13 to 18 Chapel High and Becket House). 

3.27
A number of major changes had taken place to the subject site by 1939. The house to the rear of the chapel had been demolished and replaced by the Odeon ‘Super’ Cinema, a long rectangular building aligned north - south. The Chequers Inn had also been demolished by this date, although a number of the outbuildings to its rear may have survived. Due to its location on a main road and close to London, a number of Second World War defences were constructed in Brentwood. The closest of these to the subject site were c.200m to the north-east, at the junction of the High Street with Ingrave Road. They consisted of a road barrier and a Spigot mortar emplacement; both of these have now been destroyed.

3.28
The late 1960s and early 1970s saw a period of extensive re-development on the subject site. Between 1969 and 1974, the early nineteenth century houses built on the site of the Crown Inn were cleared to make way for Brentwood Mart, a large two storey concrete building. Between 1973-1974, the Odeon Cinema and all other older buildings on the subject site, with the exception of the ruined chapel and no. 44 High Street, were demolished and the Chapel High shopping centre erected in their place. The line of New Road was obliterated by the shopping centre, with only the extreme northern and southern ends surviving. The southern end of South Road (formerly Chapman’s Alley) was also disturbed.

3.29
The majority of the site is now occupied by the Chapel High shopping centre, a complex of concrete framed buildings varying between a single storey and over five storeys in height. The units of the centre are mostly put to retail use, although there are also offices and a small cinema. Areas of tarmac car parking are present to the east and west of the shopping centre.  The remains of the chapel, formed mostly by the stump of the tower and a small part of the west end of the nave, stand at the north end of the shopping centre. The surviving remains have evidently been subject to some modern repair and intervention, for example, the use of cement wall capping, but generally appear to be in reasonable condition. The walls are free from vegetation, apart from the upper part of the surviving tower, where a few grasses and plants have established themselves. The outline of the chapel’s plan is marked by a modern low brick wall. The area within and around the chapel is partly grassed over and partly paved; two gravestones, with illegible inscriptions but of eighteenth/nineteenth century appearance, are set into the paving on the east side of the chapel. No. 44 High Street, to the immediate north-east of the chapel tower, is currently occupied and in good repair. 

4
Aims of the Investigation
The aims of the investigation were detailed in the WSI (AOC, 2004) as being:
4.1
To establish the presence/absence of any archaeological remains within the development site.

4.2
To establish the ecofactual and environmental potential of any archaeological deposits and features and to establish the depositional sequence.

4.3
Specific aims were to identify:
· Evidence relating to the origins and development of the site
· The identification and interpretation of medieval and later occupation deposits
· The relationship of below ground evidence to the partly upstanding St Thomas a Beckets Chapel
4.4
The final aim will be to make public the results of the archaeological work.

5
Methodology
5.1
A site code (BW15) was obtained from Chelmsford Museums Service before work commenced.
5.2
A watching brief condition was imposed on all ground works and intrusive activities connected with the service trenching, ground beam trenches, landscaping and resurfacing - repaving. These works consisted of the excavation of a series of trenching and general ground surrounding the St Thomas a Beckets Chapel as well as trenches to the east of the current shopping centre, (Figure 2). 

5.3
The work was undertaken with the use of a mechanical mini digger, utilising a ditching bucket, excavating to a general depth of 500mm, though several of the ground beam excavations were excavated up to 2.00m deep. 

6
Results

Cable Trenches and Repaving

6.1
The majority of the archaeological watching brief took place on the excavation of shallow trenches for the laying of new cables. The excavation of the trenches involved the temporary removal of paving slabs, removal of any underlying concrete and the excavation of narrow trenches; laying of the service ducts and the relaying of the paving slabs. 

6.2
The service trenches were excavated to a depth of 0.50m which revealed 0.20m deep concrete or hardcore deposits which overlaid a 0.30m deep deposit of dark brown grey silt clay which formed the make up for the current structure on site.

Ground Beams Trenches
6.3
These trenches were excavated by mechanical mini digger to depths of between 1.6m and 2.0m deep. The trenches were located around the new concrete piles for the insertion of ground beams which would be used in the foundations of the new shopping centre extension building.
6.4
No archaeology was revealed during these excavations, the trench sections demonstrated extensive modern disturbance.

Other work
6.5
Towards the north-east of the Chapel, a small area of concrete was exposed and removed revealing deposits of underlying made ground which is likely to relate to the construction phase for the current shopping centre.
7
Finds
7.1
No finds were observed over the course of the watching brief.

8
Conclusions

8.1
With regard to the general aim of the watching brief, i.e. establish the presence/absence of any archaeological remains, it was clearly demonstrated that the ground works did not disturb any deposits of an archaeological nature.
8.2
It is recommended that no further work is required to satisfy the Planning Condition. No publication is proposed, other than publicatuion through the ADS (Appendix

9
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